# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RICHARD LYNCH,	)	
	)	
	)	
Appellant,	)	
	)	
VS.	)	CASE NUMBER SC01-217
	)	
STATE OF FLORIDA,	)	
	)	
Appellee.	)	
	)	

## APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR SEMINOLE COUNTY, FLORIDA

# **INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0294632 CHIEF, CAPITAL APPEALS 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (386) 252-3367 ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

# **

### **PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

The original record on appeal comprises nine (I through IX) volumes and 1129 consecutively numbered pages. Counsel will refer to the record on appeal using a Roman numeral for the volume number followed by the appropriate page numbers. The subsequently filed supplemental record is only one volume containing 164 consecutively numbered pages. Counsel will refer to this portion of the record using the notation (SR I) with the pertinent page numbers.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On March 23, 1999, a grand jury in Seminole County, Florida, indicted Richard E. Lynch, the appellant, on two counts of first-degree premeditated murder, one count of armed burglary of a dwelling, and one count of kidnaping. (I 23-25) On March 25, 1999, the state filed a notice of intent to seek the death penalty. (I 28)

Numerous motions were filed by appellant attacking the constitutionality of Florida's death-sentencing scheme. (I 72-168) Following two hearings, the trial court granted several of appellant's motions and denied others. (SR I 35-148; II 267-68)

On October 19, 2000, appellant withdrew his previously tendered plea of not guilty. He pleaded guilty as charged to both counts of first-degree murder, one count of armed burglary of a dwelling, and the kidnaping of Leah Caday. (II 285-87; IX 1070-97) Appellant also waived his right to a penalty phase jury and chose to allow the trial court to be the finder of fact. (IX 1085-97)

The trial court conducted a penalty phase beginning January 9, 2001. (II 394-96; III 298-314) Following the penalty phase, both sides submitted written arguments in support of their respective positions. (III 415-96)

2

On February 6, 2001, the trial court conducted a <u>Spencer<sup>1</sup></u> hearing. (III 497)

On April 3, 2001, the trial court sentenced appellant to death on each of the first-

degree murder convictions. The trial court found three aggravating factors as to

the murder of Rosanna Morgan:

(1) The capital felony was a homicide and was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. - Great weight

(2) The defendant was previously convicted of another capital felony or of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to the person. - Moderate weight

(3) The capital felony was committed while the defendant was engaged in aggravated child abuse, burglary or kidnaping. - Little weight

(III 518-19 The trial court also found three aggravating factors as to the murder of

Leah Caday:

(1) The defendant was previously convicted of another capital felony or of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to the person. - Great weight

(2) The capital felony was committed while the defendant was engaged in aggravated child abuse, burglary or kidnaping. - Moderate weight

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Spencer v. State, 615 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1993).

(3) The capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel. - Great weight.

(III 519) The trial court found nine mitigating factors as to both murders:

(1) The crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was committed while he was under the influence of extreme<sup>2</sup> mental or emotional disturbance. - Moderate weight

(2) The defendant's capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially<sup>3</sup> impaired. - Moderate weight

(3) The defendant has no significant history of prior criminal activity. - Moderate weight

(4) The defendant suffered from mental illnesses at the time of the offense. - Little weight

(5) The defendant was emotionally and physically abused as a child. - Little weight

(6) The defendant has a history of alcohol abuse. - Little weight

(7) The defendant has adjusted well to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The trial court summarized his findings and termed Appellant's mental or emotional disturbance "extreme." In the body of his findings, the trial court concluded the disturbance was present but not extreme. (III 514-15, 519).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In summarizing his findings, the trial court wrote that appellant's capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was "substantially" impaired. (III 519) However, in the body of his findings, the trial court concluded that appellant's capacity to conform his conduct was impaired but not "substantially". (III 515)

incarceration. - Little weight

(8) The defendant cooperated with the police. - Moderate weight

(9)Other mitigating factors including the defendant's expression of remorse, he has been a good father to his children and his intention to maintain his relationship with his children while in prison. - Little weight

(III 519-20) The trial court sentenced appellant to concurrent life sentences for the armed burglary of a dwelling and the kidnaping. (IX 1127-28) The trial court allowed 757 credit for time served.

Appellant filed a notice of appeal on April 9, 2001. (IX 524-25) This brief follows.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

#### **Preamble**

The facts of this case involve mental illness, passion, adultery, and credit card debt. Richard Lynch, the appellant, was a stay-at-home husband/father. His wife worked as a registered nurse in Winter Park. Richard Lynch began a torrid affair with Rosanna (Rose) Morgan, a married woman who was estranged from her own husband. In July of 1999, using his own credit cards, Richard Lynch bought Rose a car and helped her move into an apartment. After several months, Rose reconciled with her husband who had just returned to the United States. A devastated Richard Lynch attempted to woo Rose back into his arms. Lynch also desperately needed Rose to continue payments on the outstanding credit card balances that were in his name. This tug of war went on for several weeks. In a last-ditch effort to accomplish both goals, Lynch went to Rose's apartment to confront her one last time. He left a suicide note for his own, unsuspecting wife. During the confrontation at the apartment, Rose and her thirteen-year-old daughter, Leah, were tragically shot to death. After a ninety minute standoff, law enforcement successfully talked Lynch out of suicide. He surrendered to police, pleaded guilty, and was sentenced to die, not at his own hand, but at the hands of the state.

6

#### **Events Leading up to the Murders**

Appellant married Virginia, his wife, in 1988. (IV 80) The couple moved to Sanford, Florida from New York in 1990. In 1993, they had a son, Chris. Another son, Steven, was born in 1997. (IV 79-81) Virginia Lynch<sup>4</sup> (Gigi) worked as a registered nurse at Winter Park Memorial Hospital. (IV 77) Appellant worked as a bus driver and a security guard in New York and in Florida. (IV 82) At his wife's suggestion, appellant stopped working in 1995 and became a house-husband. (IV 82) He took care of Chris and, two years later, had a new baby to care for also. (IV 83-84) After the birth of their second son, Richard and Gigi grew apart. They had not been intimate since early 1997. (VI 550-51)

In July, 1998, appellant met Rosanna Morgan who was working at a convenient store near his home. (VI 546) Rose was married to James Morgan with whom she had a young son. Rose also had a thirteen-year-old daughter, Leah Caday.<sup>5</sup> (VI 417-20) James Morgan was working overseas. (VI 420) James and Rose had their own marital problems which were exacerbated by long periods of separation which were the result of James' employment. (VI 420-22)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Both Gigi (appellant's wife) and Rose (his mistress) were Filipino. (IV 55-56, 149-50; VI 417-20)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Leah was the product of a rape in Rose's native Philippines when Rose was just seventeen. (IV 143, III 417-20, 592)

Meanwhile, appellant and Rose began a relationship that blossomed into a torrid affair. (IV 100-1; State's Exhibit 11) The affair was not merely a sexual one. Rose and Richard truly loved each other. (VI 565-68, 586-87) The affair raged on for the next six months. Rose desperately wanted to move out of her marital home that she shared with her mother-in-law. (VI 561-62, 590-91) Rose had a low-paying job, while appellant had no income of his own. Nevertheless, the generous credit card companies provided appellant with several credit cards.<sup>6</sup> Appellant was able to access cash, with which he helped Rose's financial situation. (VI 549) Appellant used the maximum amount of \$700.00 from one card along with \$200.00 from another to buy Rose a 1985 Buick Rivera. (VI 554-55) He also used credit card money to move Rose and her children into an apartment. The couple managed to accumulate a \$6,000.00 balance on one of appellant's credit cards. (VI 586)

The idyllic affair was shattered when James Morgan returned to the United States on February 9, 1999 and reconciled with Rose. (VI 421-24) As a result, Rose broke off her relationship with Richard Lynch. Lynch was extremely distraught about the termination of their passionate love affair. (VI 422-25)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Needless to say, Appellant was mildly surprised that he was able to obtain lines of credit despite the fact that he was unemployed. (VI 549)

Problems remained in both households. Rose and James were anxious to recover all of the explicit, nude photographs that Lynch had taken of Rose during their affair.<sup>7</sup> (VI 432-33) On the other hand, Richard Lynch was anxious for a reconciliation with Rose. He also desperately needed the Morgans to take responsibility for and to continue repayment of the credit card debt.

Lynch called the Morgans' apartment on the day that James returned to the United States. Appellant expressed his hurt and anger regarding the termination of the affair and the Morgans' reconciliation. (VI 424-27) The Morgans sometimes noticed the appellant following them over the next couple of weeks. (VI 429-44) Between February 9, 1999 and March 5, 1999, the Morgans had several telephone conversations and meetings with the appellant in an attempt to retrieve the offensive photographs. (VI 424-51) Appellant turned over some, but not all of the photographs to the Morgans. (VI 444-47) During their last meeting, appellant gave the Morgans what Lynch purported to be the last of the photographs. (VI 449-51) At this meeting, appellant attempted to tell James about his relationship with Rose. Appellant gave James a love letter that Rose had written to Lynch on February 2,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Rose had told her husband of the affair.

1999, only one week before their break-up.<sup>8</sup> After the meeting near the end ofFebruary, the Morgans did not see or hear from Lynch until the day of the murders.(VI 452-53)

#### The Day of the Murders

On March 5, 1999, the Morgans had not heard from the appellant for approximately one week. They believed that he had returned all of the pictures. (VI 452-53) Nevertheless, James Morgan had a premonition during the day. James drove to Rose's place of employment shortly before 3:00 p.m., the end of Rose's shift. (VI 453-54) James parked his car and waited for his wife. Within a few minutes, Richard Lynch drove up and parked behind Morgan's car.<sup>9</sup> Morgan got out of his car to confront Lynch. Lynch once again brought up the financial problem regarding the credit cards. (VI 453-54) Morgan explained that Rose thought the money was a gift. Morgan added that Lynch got the better end of the deal anyway. (VI 453-54) Morgan advised Lynch to get a lawyer. The Morgans refused to pay back any of the debt. Morgan suggested that Lynch leave the premises. (VI 456)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Appellant was attempting to show Morgan the depth of their love. (VI 449-51) In prior meetings, appellant detailed his sexual exploits with Rose. James Morgan believed that appellant was attempting to provoke him. (VI 435-37)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Lynch had his youngest son in the car with him.

During the conversation between James Morgan and Richard Lynch, Rose Morgan walked out into the parking lot. When she saw the confrontation, she froze in shock. (VI 455-56) As Lynch drove away, he looked over at Rose with what James Morgan described as a combination of a smile and a smirk. (VI 457) Rose was too shaken up to drive, so James took her on several errands. Rose agreed that they should involve the police at this point. (VI 458-59)

After running some errands for about one hour, James dropped off Rose at her car. They planned for James to pick up their son from daycare, while Rose went to the apartment to pick up Leah for a Friday evening family outing. (VI 459-60) Meanwhile, Richard Lynch had picked up his older son at school at approximately 3:30 that afternoon. (IV 89-90) He dropped both children off at his home, where Gigi was recovering from minor surgery. (IV 85, 91-92) Appellant then drove to the Morgans' apartment on Lake Mary Boulevard. A neighbor saw Lynch lurking outside the Morgans' apartment door on the second floor. When the neighbor left his apartment at approximately 4:15 p.m., he again noticed Lynch pacing while looking at his watch. (IV 46-51) About that same time, Leah Caday, Rose's daughter, was coming up the steps of the apartment building. (IV 51-52)

Because of Lynch's prior stalking-type behavior, Leah Caday was probably alarmed when she saw her mother's jilted boyfriend waiting on the building's landing. By hook or by crook, Lynch gained entry to the apartment. He explained to Leah that he wanted to talk to Rose. The pair sat and waited for Rose to arrive. (VI 544-45, 556-58) For the next thirty minutes, Lynch and Leah waited inside the apartment. (VI 558) Lynch showed Leah that he had a gun. He took it out of his bag and placed it beside him. Leah was very scared, but Lynch assured her that he would not hurt her. During the course of their wait, Leah began to get upset. Lynch attempted to calm her down. (VI 545, 563) At some point before Rose arrived, Lynch called his wife from the Morgans' apartment. Richard told Gigi to take care of his boys whom he loved very much. Richard told Gigi, "He [had] to do something and he's sorry for what he is going to do." (IV 92-96; VI 583-85) During the short conversation, Gigi heard a frightened Leah yelling in the background. (IV 92-93; VI 585) It was about then that Rose arrived.

When Rose arrived, she stood in the open doorway while Lynch talked to her with his gun in his hand. Lynch asked Rose to come in so they could talk about the debt repayment. He promised to release Leah if she complied with his request. (VI 563-64) By Lynch's estimation, the estranged couple talked for approximately ten minutes. Rose refused to enter the apartment to discuss the matter in private. (VI 568)

Lynch thought he heard someone coming up the stairs. Thinking that it

might be the police or Rose's husband, the urgency of the situation became more pressing. Lynch "made a move" with the gun and it fired. (VI 568-69, 581) Lynch thought the first bullet hit Rose in her leg. He was not sure where the second bullet hit. (VI 568-70) Rose fell down outside the apartment. The gun went off once more and a bullet from close range went into Leah Caday's back resulting in her death. (VI 570-71)

A panicked and suicidal Richard Lynch dragged an unconscious Rose into the apartment from the landing and closed the door. (VI 582) If she was not dead already, Lynch did not want Rose to suffer. Concluding that she was mortally wounded, Lynch fired a round into the back of Rose's head to end any potential suffering. (IV 139; VI 597-99; VII 605-6, 612-13)

In the meantime, police had responded to the scene. (IV 31-34) When police attempted to gain entry to the apartment, Lynch fired a warning shot. The police retreated and waited for backup. (IV 35-37, 159-60; VI 582-83) After the shootings, Richard Lynch called 9-1-1.<sup>10</sup> He talked to Joyce Fagan, the 9-1-1 operator, for quite sometime. Lynch explained what happened during a sometimes very emotional conversation. (IV 119-182) Despite the fact that Lynch threatened

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Lynch also called his wife again after the shootings. He told her he had shot his mistress. He told Gigi where to find an explanatory letter. (IV 97-101)

to kill himself several times during the conversation, Fagan was able to talk him out of it primarily by reminding Lynch of his two small sons.<sup>11</sup> (IV 156, 171-72, 175-76)

After he surrendered, Lynch gave a detailed interview with the police that evening. (VI 539-VII 640) Throughout his conversation with the 9-1-1 operator and the police, Lynch maintained that he went to the apartment that day to confront Rose about the relationship and the outstanding debt. The discussion became heated and the gun in his hand began to discharge. Lynch blamed the hair trigger on his Glock with which he was unfamiliar. (IV 137-39, 177; VI 568-75) Lynch admitted that he subsequently shot Rose in the back of the head to end her suffering. (IV 139) Lynch maintained that the single shot that killed Leah was fired accidently when he attempted to put the gun down on the counter. (IV 192-93)

### **Appellant's Mental Problems**

Dr. Jacquelyn Olander, a licensed psychologist with a doctorate in counseling and specializing in neuropsychology, evaluated appellant's mental condition. (VII 733-40) Dr. Olander used numerous psychological tests and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Fagan had help from a hostage negotiator who also talked to Lynch in an unrecorded telephone conversation. (IV 186-99)

interviewed appellant. (VII 740-44) Appellant was of normal intelligence and showed no signs of malingering. (VII 745, 748) At the time of the evaluation, Lynch was experiencing a significant amount of tension, unhappiness, and pessimism. He was withdrawn and had difficulty concentrating. He had low selfesteem and interpersonal difficulties. These factors put him at increased risk for self-harm or suicide. (VII 750) Although some of appellant's problems arose from his circumstances at the time of the evaluation, others were of long-term duration. (VII 750-51)

Dr. Olander diagnosed Richard Lynch as suffering from a major mental disorder. Specifically, Lynch suffered from a personality disorder, not otherwise specified, with obsessive-compulsive features. (VII 766) Appellant also suffered from a paranoid personality disorder. This resulted in a pervasive sense of suspicion and distrust of others. Not surprisingly, such a disorder causes significant distress. (VII 772-73) Lynch had extreme difficulty maintaining interpersonal relationships.<sup>12</sup> (VII 773)

Perhaps most significantly, Dr. Olander concluded that Lynch suffered from a psychotic disorder at the time of the murders. Specifically, she diagnosed a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Richard's only "friend" was Burt who owned the gun shop where Lynch bought and sold weapons. (VIII 772)

schizoaffective disorder, a psychotic disorder that combines schizophrenia and a mood disorder. (VII 796-98)

The doctor categorized appellant's mental problems as a major mental illness. The illness resulted in a very immature thought process. (VII 796-98) The doctor opined that appellant decompensated during the time prior to the murders. This resulted in a diminished awareness of reality and diminished emotional and behavioral control. Eventually, Lynch lost the ability to discriminate between subjective fantasy and reality. He felt like he was in a dream-like trance. (VII 798-99)

Dr. Olander also concluded that, at the time of the murders, Lynch was under such extreme emotional, psychological and mental duress that his ability to control his behavior was significantly impaired. (VIII 809-10) At the time of the murders, Lynch was suffering from a formal thought disorder, a significant psychotic process. As a result he lost contact with reality. This impacted his ability to act and think rationally. (VIII 816) The doctor further concluded that, at the time of the murders, Lynch was under the influence of an extreme mental or emotional disturbance. (VIII 820) Additionally, his capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired. He knew that his actions were wrong, but the psychotic process took control. (VIII 820-821) As a result he could not control his behavior.

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