#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RICHARD LYNCH,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC01-795

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

/

### ON APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR SEMINOLE COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JUDY TAYLOR RUSH ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #438847 444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (386) 238-4990 Fax # (386) 226-0457 COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

(R 1126). Thus, the oral pronouncement makes it clear that Judge Eaton found the nonstatutory version of the mental state mitigators and assigned appropriate weight to them.

Moreover, any error in regard to Judge Eaton's order is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. In *Morris v. State*, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S163, S165 (Fla. Feb. 21, 2002), this Court considered a similar claim. In *Morris*, this Court held that "[a]lthough the trial court's order on this point is confusing," it appeared from the record that the judge found and weighed the mitigation. *Morris*, 27 Fla. L. Weekly at S165. Under such a circumstance "and considering all of the other aggravators and mitigation in the case . . . we conclude that any inaccuracy in the trial court's statements is harmless . . .." *Id*.

Judge Eaton's intent to find and weigh the subject mitigation

as nonstatutory mitigation is clear on the record. Considering that and the wealth of strong aggravation compared to the relatively weak mitigation, any inaccuracy in Judge Eaton's written order is harmless. *See Morris*.

Finally, this matter was not raised in the lower court, and therefore, it is procedurally barred. *Steinhorst v. State*, 412 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1982). This type of error, if any, does not rise to the level of fundamental error. *See Wise v. State*, 767 So. 2d 1162, 1163 (Fla. 2000).

Lynch is entitled to no relief.

### POINT IV

### LYNCH'S DEATH SENTENCES ARE PROPORTIONATE.

Lynch complains that his death sentences are disproportionate in this case, apparently because "[t]he killings arose out of a domestic dispute that escalated into tragedy." (IB 44). He acknowledges that this Honorable Court has not "created a 'domestic dispute' exception to death sentencing," but argues that this Court "has, nonetheless, recognized that family relations often create 'intense emotions,'" and suggests that his case should be compared to those domestic cases where the death penalty was invalidated. (IB 45).

The standard of review of proportionality of a death sentence appears to be *de novo*. "This court performs proportionality review to prevent the imposition of 'unusual' punishment . . .." Sexton v. State, 775 So. 2d 923, 935 (Fla. 2000). See Evans v. State, 800 So. 2d 182, 196 (Fla. 2001). Its purpose "is to foster uniformity in death-penalty law." Tillman v. State, 591 So. 2d 167, 169 (Fla. 1991). For this reason, such a review is performed by this Court, even where the defendant does not specifically raise the issue. Jennings v. State, 718 So. 2d 144, 154 (Fla. 1998), cert. denied, 527 U.S. 1042 (1998).

Lynch admits that the trial court found three aggravating factors for each murder, but claims that there should only be two in each case because of the claims he raises in Point I and Point

II. (IB 47). Thus, he concedes two valid aggravators for each murder. However, he proceeds to trivialize the importance of those aggravators and complains that the trial judge did not weigh his mitigation heavily enough.

Lynch essentially asks this Court to reweigh the mitigation and find that it outweighs the aggravators.

Deciding the weight to be given a mitigating circumstance is within the trial court's discretion, and a trial court's decision is subject to the abuse-of-discretion standard. . . In the sentencing order, the trial court detailed the evidence presented regarding each circumstance proposed, found each of these nonstatutory mitigators to exist, and afforded them the weight which the court found was appropriate.

(citations omitted) Cole v. State, 701 So. 2d 845, 852 (Fla. 1997), cert. denied, 523 U.S. 1051 (1998). Judge Eaton's sentencing order states the evidence of each circumstance, found all mitigators proposed (though two were found at the nonstatutory, less extreme level), and afforded them the weight which he felt was appropriate. Lynch has utterly failed to establish that Judge Eaton abused his discretion in regard to the finding, and weighing, of the mitigating circumstances of his case.

This Court's proportionality review focuses on the totality of the circumstances in a case and compares it with other capital cases to ensure uniformity in application." *Mansfield v. State*, 758 So. 2d 636, 646 (Fla. 2000), *cert. denied*, 532 U.S. 998 (2001). *See Robinson v. State*, 761 So. 2d 269, 277 (Fla. 1999), *cert. denied*, 529 U.S. 1057 (2000). This process does not simply tally

up the number of aggravating factors and mitigating circumstances. *Robinson*, 761 So. 2d at 277. Moreover, the manner and method of the murder as carried out by the defendant is relevant to this determination. *See id.* at 278.

In Robinson v. State, the defendant killed his girlfriend as she lay sleeping on a couch in his home. The trial judge found three aggravators, to-wit: (1) Committed for pecuniary gain, (2) avoid arrest, and (3) CCP. Both statutory mental mitigators were found, as well as a considerable amount of nonstatutory mitigation. 761 So. 2d at 272-73. Although this man had mild brain damage and both statutory mental state mitigators were found, this Court upheld the proportionality of his death sentence in part because "Robinson knew what he was doing at the time of the murder." Id. at 278. This Court explained: "[B]efore killing the victim, Robinson . . . calmly and deliberately waited until she was sleeping and then coldly bludgeoned her to death with a drywall hammer." Id. Thus, "Robinson acted according to a deliberate plan and was fully cognizant of his actions on the night of the murder." Id. Citing Spencer v. State, 691 So. 2d 1062 (Fla. 1996), cert. denied, 522 U.S. 884 (1996), this Court found "that death is proportionate to the facts in this case." Id. Robinson's death sentence was affirmed. Id. at 279.

The same result is just in the instant case. The record establishes that Lynch knew what he was doing at the time of the

murder. Before killing Rose and Leah, he calmly and deliberately waited for his victims to come under his control into a place where he could murder them. He his car a good distance away for the stated purpose of preventing Rose from seeing it because he knew she would not go up to the apartment if she did. He waited for Leah to come home from school and forced her at gunpoint to accompany him into the Morgan apartment. Then, he held Leah hostage for thirty to forty minutes while he waited for Rose to arrive. The record is clear that he was calm and very deliberate at all of these stages of the crimes, and with the exception of the February 9th telephone conversation with Rose where she first told him she was reconciling with her husband, he was entirely calm and deliberate throughout all of the time and events leading up to the murders.<sup>45</sup> Thus, the record refutes Lynch's claim that these murders were committed in the heat of a domestic dispute. See Dennis v. State, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S101, S110 (Jan. 31, 2002).

Shortly after Rose arrived, Lynch opened fire on her, shooting her in the extremities, causing great pain and loss of blood. Then, he dragged the screaming woman inside where some five to

Lynch's wife testified that throughout this time, he seemed normal and performed his usual, routine duties. (R 81, 83). James testified that Lynch was always calm with him, and appeared to be calm when he talked to Rose at Winn Dixie and when he talked with James at Rose's workplace on the afternoon of the murders. (R 427, 431, 436, 445, 455).

seven minutes after the first shots ended, three more rang out, and Rose and Leah were dead. These facts alone, without regard to the damning letter Lynch wrote two days before the crimes, shows that he acted according to a deliberate plan and was fully cognizant of his actions at the time of the murders.<sup>46</sup>

Assuming arguendo that only the two aggravators conceded by Lynch should be considered, Lynch's death sentences are still proportional. In Spencer v. State, 691 So. 2d 1062, 1065 (Fla. 1996), cert. denied, 522 U.S. 884 (1996), the defendant killed his wife and claimed that the death penalty was disproportionately applied to him because his murder involved a domestic dispute. Spencer's trial judge found two aggravators, to-wit: HAC and prior violent felony. 691 So. 2d at 1065. He found two statutory mental mitigators and numerous nonstatutory mitigators. Id. This Court rejected the domestic dispute exception to the death penalty urged by Spencer, and upheld the death sentence as proportionate. Id. Thus, even were there only two valid aggravators (as conceded by Lynch) to be weighed against the single statutory mitigator and the

The State notes that Lynch pled to premeditated murder of both victims, (R 1080-81), and the evidence well shows that both murders were deliberate, premeditated acts. Indeed, when he told his wife of killing the victims (immediately afterwards) he never indicated that either murder was an accident. Moreover, the positions of the bodies and blood and the conscious effort and deliberate action needed to fire the Glock defeat Lynch's later made claims of accidental shooting.

several nonstatutory mitigators, the case law indicates that Lynch's sentence is proportionate despite his claim that these murders occurred due to a domestic dispute.<sup>47</sup>

Beginning with Spencer, this Court has repeatedly pointed out that in the domestic dispute cases where the death penalty was stricken based on proportionality, "substantial mental mitigation was present." Way v. State, 760 So. 2d 903, 921 (Fla. 2000). Ιn Way, there were three aggravators, prior violent felony, committed during a felony, and HAC, two statutory mitigators, and several nonstatutory mitigators. Id. Noting that there was no "significant mental mitigation presented" in Way, this Court upheld the death sentence imposed for Way's murder of his daughter against a proportionality challenge based on domestic dispute. Id. Only the less extreme mental mitigation was found in Lynch's case, i.e., "emotional disturbance" and nonsubstantial impairment of the capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law. (R Otherwise, the trial court found only "personality 515). disorders" which were "given little weight." (R 516). Such scant mitigation pales in comparison to that in Way which was still

The State points out that Lynch was certainly not in a domestic dispute situation with the child, Leah. His dispute was solely with the adult victim, Rose. Thus, even were this Court willing to credit Lynch's domestic dispute exception to his death sentence in regard to Rose's murder, his death sentence in regard to Leah's murder should not be disturbed.

insufficient to render the death sentence disproportionate.

In Sexton v. State, 775 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 2000), the death penalty was held proportional where the defendant murdered his son-in-law. There were three aggravators, CCP, committed during a felony, and avoid arrest, weighed against both statutory mental mitigators and nonstatutory mitigation. Id. at 822. Sexton presented considerable evidence of mental impairment, and the trial court "gave great weight to the statutory mitigator of 'under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance."" Id. at 934. In the instant case, Judge Eaton did not find either statutory mental mitigator, and specifically rejected the claim that Lynch was under extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the murders. (R 514-15). Moreover, he gave only "moderate weight" to the nonstatutory mitigator of "emotional disturbance." Thus, Lynch's proportionality claim, like Sexton's, (R 515). should be rejected.

Finally, in his brief, Lynch relies on Farinas v. State, 569 So. 2d 425 (Fla. 1990) and White v. State, 616 So. 2d 21 (Fla. 1993), cert. denied, 510 U.S. 877 (1993) as support for his claim that his death sentence is disproportionate because it arose out of a domestic dispute. (IB 45-46). In Pooler v. State, 704 So. 2d 1375, 1381 (Fla. 1997), cert. denied, 525 U.S. 848 (1997), this Court explained that the basis for its decision to strike the death penalty in Farinas and White was that

we struck the cold, calculated, and premeditated (CCP) aggravator on the basis that the heated passions involved negated the "cold" element of CCP. However, our reason for reversing the death penalty in those cases was that the striking of that aggravator rendered the death sentence disproportionate in light of the overall circumstances.

(footnote omitted). This Court made it clear that it has "never approved a *per se* 'domestic dispute' exception to the imposition of the death penalty." 704 So. 2d at 1381. This Court recently reiterated its position on this issue in *Dennis v. State*, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S101, S110 (Fla. Jan. 31, 2002), upholding *Dennis'* death sentence as proportional despite his claim that the "murders were committed in the heat of a domestic dispute."

In the instant case, Lynch contends that the CCP aggravator should not be considered in determining proportionality of his death sentence because "the 'heightened' premeditation . . . as to the murder of Rose . . ." was not appropriately found by the trial court. (IB 47). Thus, in regard to proportionality, Lynch has not challenged the CCP aggravator on the basis that heated passion negated the "cold" element, and therefore, the basis for the holding of the death sentence disproportionate in *Farinas* and *White* is not present in Lynch's case. *See Dennis*, 27 Fla. L. Weekly at S110[domestic dispute is relevant to CCP only where "heated passion" involved were "antithetical to 'cold' deliberation."] Lynch's murder of Rose was cold. The CCP aggravator is valid.

Even if there were only two aggravators, the death sentence

for Rose's brutal murder is still proportionate.<sup>48</sup> See Spencer, 691 So. 2d at 1065. See also Mansfield v. State, 758 So. 2d 636, 642 (Fla. 2000) [two aggravators, HAC and committed during felony, weighed against five nonstatutory mitigators was proportionate]; Blanco v. State, 706 So. 2d 10, 11 (Fla. 1997) [two aggravators, prior violent felony and committed during a felony, outweighed one eleven statutory mitigator and nonstatutory mitigating circumstances, rendering the death sentence proportionate]; Hunter v. State, 660 So. 2d 244, 254 (Fla. 1995), cert. denied, 516 U.S. 1128 (1996) [two aggravators, prior violent felony and committed during a felony, outweighed ten nonstatutory mitigators and rendered the death sentence proportionate]. Indeed, even a single aggravator would be sufficient to uphold Lynch's death sentence. See Ferrell v. State, 680 So. 2d 390 (Fla. 1996), cert. denied, 520 U.S. 1123 (1997) [death sentence proportional based on a single aggravator for defendant who shot live-in girlfriend twice in the head even though he had significant mental mitigation].

In Ferrell, the sole aggravator was especially weighty because the prior violent felony bore many of the earmarks of the present crime. In Lynch's case, one of the conceded aggravators is the

The State submits that the trial court erroneously failed to find HAC as to Rose's murder. *See Swafford* v. State, 533 So. 2d 270, 277 (Fla. 1988). That Rose's murder was heinous, atrocious, and cruel can, and should, be considered by this Honorable Court in the determination of proportionality.

prior violent felony for the murder of the child, Leah. This aggravator is especially weighty because Leah was shot in close proximity to her mother's body and after Rose had been shot at least five times. Moreover, the evidence presented below in regard to the position in which the bodies were found and the force necessary to fire the murder weapon, as well as Lynch's pleas to premeditated murder, established that Lynch did not accidentally shoot Leah. He intentionally murdered the child after first shooting her mother at least five times in her presence. Thus, the prior violent felony is especially weighty and alone supports the proportionality of Lynch's death sentence for Rose's murder. *Ferrell*.

Of course, the same is true when considering the proportionality of the death sentence for Leah's murder. There the prior violent felony is Rose's brutal shooting murder in the presence of her child, Leah. Thus, the prior violent felony in Leah's case is especially weighty and alone supports the proportionality of Lynch's death sentence for Leah's murder. *Ferrell*.

Lynch is entitled to no relief.

#### POINT V

# FLORIDA'S CAPITAL SENTENCING STATUTE IS NOT UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

Lynch complains that Florida's capital sentencing statute is unconstitutional on its face and as applied to him. (IB 55). However, he "concedes that many of the pretrial challenges to the constitutionality . . . became moot when appellant pleaded guilty and waived the penalty phase jury." (IB 55). He also admits that "this Court has clearly rejected all of the following arguments." (IB 55).

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